


Symyx Technologles, the innovator and leader in high-throughput

materials discovery, has bullt an unparalleled platform for increasing
research productivity in the life sclence, chemical, and electronics
industries. As the pioneer in the field, we heve developed & com-

prehensive portfolio of intellectual property, encompassing more

then 90 issued patents and over 390 patent applications covering
our methods, our technologies and our discoveries. We have estalb-
lished distinet and complementary paths for commercializing this
patent portfolio: research collaborations with industry leaders,
sales of Discovery Tools® synthesis and screening systems, and
licensing our discovered materials anc methodeology patents.

This diversified business model provides multiple sources of

revenue o support innovation and to fuel growth.
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INDUSTRY COLLABORATIONS

Companies that form a research collaboration with Symyx have immediate access to our highest-
throughput systems, capable of delivering results hundreds to thousands of times faster than
traditional research methods, at a fraction of the cost per experiment. As a result, our partners can
dramatically increase their rate of innovation through the number of experiments executed, select
the best candidate for development, and shorten the time to market — competitive advantages that
are critical to survival in an era of economic pressure.

Much of our collaborative research is focused on the chemical industry, where companies turn to
us for technology innovations to help them address rising costs and manufacturing challenges from
low-cost producers overseas. In these collaborations, we apply proprietary high-speed technologies
to make breakthrough discoveries leading to improved commercial processes and materials. We are
working with Celanese, The Dow Chemical Company, ExxonMobil Chemical, and other leading com-
panies to discover catalysts for the manufacture of polyolefins and a variety of other commodity
chemicals. The range of new technologies developed in these research collaborations ~ including
instruments, software, methods and materials - results in a growing portfolio of intellectual
property that creates downstream value for Symyx.




DISCOVERY TOOLS

Companies that purchase Discovery Tools systems from Symyx are able to implement combinatorial
and high-throughput methods at a great time and cost savings compared to developing and building
a system internally and taking a license to operate from Symyx. These complete workflows, aimed
at accelerating discovery research as well as product optimization and process development, enable
scientists to increase their research productivity up to 100-fold.

A growing part of our Discovery Tools business is focused on the pharmaceutical industry, where
we offer high-throughput systems to accelerate the preclinical testing of drugs. To meet the need of
pharmaceutical companies to advance drug candidates through the development process and into
the clinic, we have developed the Discovery Tools Polymorph System, the Discovery Tools Solubility
System, and the Discovery Tools Parallel Pressure Reactor (PPR®) System. These systems are designed
to determine the optimal physical form of a drug candidate for clinical trials and the best manufac-
turing process to use for that candidate - critical steps in the drug development process. Our initial
customers for these systems include Merck & Co., Eli Lilly and Company, and Amgen. We have also
entered intc polymorph testing collaborations with several other pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies with the goal that these relationships may lead to additional Discovery Tools system
sales. In addition, we continue to expand our Discovery Tools business in the chemical field, with
recent sales to The Dow Chemical Company, ExxonMobil Chemical, North Dakota State University,
and an undisclosed company.
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LICENSING: MATERIALS

Our pipeline of discovered materials provides compelling evidence that high-throughput, parallel
experimentation can be successfully applied to the materials field. This pipeline has expanded to
include materials at various stages of development and commercialization. Of these, two materials
have reached the market: a coating polymer for proteomics arrays commercialized by our licensee
Prolinx, Inc. on a non-exclusive basis, and an X-ray storage phosphor licensed to Agfa for use in
its new computed radiography system, with installations planned for 2003. Because of its greater
sensitivity, this phosphor provides for a significant reduction in X-ray dosage compared to
conventional systems.

As of year-end 2002, our pipeline of discovered materials included 13 development candidates,
several of which may be commercialized within the next two years, as well as eight emerging
development candidates. One of these development candidates is a catalyst discovered for The Dow
Chemical Company for use in the production of polyolefins that is targeted for market introduction
in 2004. Going forward, we expect that royalties from the commercialization of Symyx-discovered
materials will play an increasing role in the company's overall financial success.



LICENSING: PATENTS

We developed our patent licensing program to accommodate companies that want to implement
combinatorial materials research on a smaller scale — generally increasing their research productivity
by 10-fold. Since our licenses are limited by the number of scientists or number of experiments, this
approach complements our other businesses by targeting research programs that may otherwise

be too small to warrant investment in Industry Collaborations or Discovery Tools. In this manner,
companies can benefit from our inventions by licensing our patents and patent applications for an
annual fee.

This licensing program has already demonstrated its ability to generate near-term revenues and

to attract new customers. Symyx has signed patent licensing agreements with General Electric
Company, Bayer AG, and a third undisclosed company. In addition, we have patent licensing agree-
ments, including patents, patent applications and know-how, with several instrumentation companies
that manufacture and sell instruments based on aspects of our proprietary instrumentation and
software. These strategic partners include Argonaut Technologies (Endeavor® parallel pressure
reactor), Kurt J. Lesker Company (thin film deposition tools), Polymer Laboratories, Ltd. (polymer
measurement technologies), Zinsser Analytic GmbH (Symyx Technologies Library® Studio software),
and Zeton Altamira (Celero™ multi-channel fixed bed reactor).
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POWERFUL MARKETS

Symyx’ high-speed research approach is revolutionizing materials discovery in three dynamic
industries: chemicals, life sciences, and electronics. A single discovery can transform these industries,
representing extremely large markets of over a billion dollars in annual sales.

Chemicals

Catalysts and other chemical materials have demonstrated significant opportunities for success,
such as DuPont’s nylon, which revolutionized the household, automotive and clothing industries,
and UOP's platforming catalyst, which eliminated the need for lead in gasoline and allowed the
production of high-octane gasoline. Our Industry Collaborations business focuses primarily on
the discovery of catalysts for the manufacture of polyolefins and commodity chemicals with large
potential markets.

Life Sciences

With drug development costs approaching one billion dollars per drug and development timelines
nearing a decade, pharmaceutical companies are under intense pressure to accelerate their processes
and increase their probability of success. Through our Discovery Tools business, we are offering
these companies the first high-throughput systems that automate a critical step of the drug develop-
ment process — determining the optimal crystalline form, or polymorph, of a compound. Choosing
the right salt and polymorphic form of a drug can enhance its bioavailability, solubility, shelf life,
formulation properties, and even patent status.

Electronics

New discoveries in electronic materials can open the doors not just to new products but also to new
industries, such as Nichia's discovery of a blue light-emitting diode for novel optical and lighting
applications. We are focusing on discovering a range of electronic materials for markets as diverse
as lighting, semiconductor manufacturing, and battery materials in our research partnerships with
electronics companies and in some of our internal programs.
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LETTER TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS

STEVEN GOLDBY
JERYL L. NILLEMARN
W. HENRY WEINBERG, PH.D.

I8Y GOLDWASSER

In 2002, we continued
to demonstrate our
ability to provide value
to our customers and
to translate that value
into ongoing business
growth.
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Symyx' accomplishments in 2002 strengthened our
global leadership in high-throughput materials
research. Despite a challenging business climate, we
grew total revenues to $65 million and more than
doubled last year's operating income. Equally impor-
tant, we expanded our customer base, advanced our
technology, and increased our intellectual property
portfolio to 90 issued patents and over 390 patent
applications on file worldwide. Recognizing the
strategic value of our comprehensive patent position,
we also diversified our business model to include
limited licensing of our methodology patents to attract
new customers and strengthen ties to existing ones.
Going forward, we believe that our strong intellectual

property position, combined with our proven tech-
nologies and software, will continue to drive growth

in all of our businesses — Licensing of Discovered
Materials and Patents, Discovery Tools, and Industry
Collaborations.

Realizing Value from Our Intellectual Property

Our ongoing efforts to build a comprehensive intellec-
tual property portfolio were rewarded in 2002 with
the granting of 49 new U.S. and European patents,
more than doubling our 2001 number. Our patent
portfolio is the largest in the field of combinatorial
materials discovery, giving us a major strategic asset
that supports all of our businesses.

To leverage the value of our proprietary leadership,
we expanded our licensing business in mid-2002

to include the licensing of our methodology patents
and patent applications to companies interested in
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adopting our approach in their own limited research
programs. This new patent licensing activity provides
a different, complementary way for us to work with
both new and existing customers while adding a

new revenue stream into our business mix. We have
completed patent licensing agreements with three
companies to date — the General Electric Company,
Bayer AG, and a third, undisclosed partner — and believe
that a strong interest in our technology and the increas-
ing breadth of our intellectual property portfolio will
lead to more such agreements in the future.

In materials licensing, we expanded our product
pipeline at year-end to include 23 materials at various
stages of development and commercialization. Our
strategy is to license our discovered materials in return
for royalties once the materials are commercialized.

Two of these materials are in commercial use — a novel

polymer used in a protein array marketed by Prolinx,
Inc., and an X-ray storage phosphor incorporated into
a computed radiography system marketed by Agfa.
The remaining materials include 13 development
candidates, many of which have near-term commer-
cialization potential, and eight emerging development
candidates. Further, our ongoing collaborative and
internal research programs should continue to provide
additional discoveries targeting strategic markets.

Expanding Our Customer Base for Discovery Tools
Our Discovery Tools business continued to grow in
2002, driven primarily by sales of our high-throughput
systems for accelerating the preclinical development of
drugs. Designed to rapidly identify optimal crystalline
salt and polymorphic forms of lead compounds, these
systems address a critical bottleneck in the drug
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development process and demonstrate our ability to modules to The Dow Chemical Company and
innovate to meet specific customer needs. During the ExxonMobil Company for expanding their existing
year, we delivered Discovery Tools Polymorph Systems Discovery Tools systems, and a system to an undis-
to both Merck & Co. and Eli Lilly and Company, as closed company.

1 i I ilit . . .
well as Discovery Tools Solubility Systems to Merck, Strategically Growing Our Industry Collaborations
Lilly and Amgen. We believe our unique solutions for . ) . . .

) o ) Our major collaborations are with chemical companies,
speeding preclinical drug development will attract a . :
b ¢ b acentical and biotechnolo whose spending was adversely affected by economic
number of new pharm . . .
) P i &Y conditions in 2002. In spite of these challenges, we

customers in the coming year. . " . .
continue to be a critical source of technology innovation

We also continued to expand our Discovery Tools for these companies, four of which extended their rela-
business in the chemical field, where we sell auto- tionships with us in the past year: Dow, ExxonMobil,
mated systems for chemical, polymer and polyolefin Rhodia S.A., and an undisclosed company. Because of
research. We were pleased to add our first academic our advanced capabilities in catalysis, the quality of
customer — North Dakota State University - which has 3, projects available, and attractive end markets
purchased four Discovery Tools.modules to enhance with royalty potential, we continue to believe this is

its polymer research program. We also delivered new an important area of focus for Symyx.
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In addition, we are committed to building relationships
with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

In the past year, we entered into polymorph and salt
selection testing collaborations with a number of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, with
the goal of developing sales of Polymorph and
Solubility systems. Going forward, we will seek to grow
our collaborations business strategically, since the
intellectual property that fuels our overall success is
generated in these research programs.

Looking Ahead

We are optimistic about our prospects for 2003 and
beyond. We anticipate that our partners will continue
to advance our discovered materials toward and into
the market. We also expect to sign new patent licensing

agreements, expand our research collaborations,
secure additional Discovery Tools sales, and add new
discoveries to our product pipeline. Underlying these
objectives is our ongoing emphasis on technology
creation and the expansion of our intellectual property
portfolio - the source of our leadership to date and
the key to generating value for our customers, partners,
stockholders and employees.

S A4l

Steven Goldby
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Symyx Technologies, Inc.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical information has been derived from the audited financial statements of the Company. The financial information as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 are derived from audited financial statements included on pages 29 to 47 in this Annual Report.
The table shouid be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 19 to 28 and the audited
financial statements.

For the Years Ended December 31,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA: 1998 1999 2000 2001 702
(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenues:

Service revenues $ 13,787 $ 30,497 $ 34,999 § 42,629 $ 35397

Product sales — — 5,919 14,216 25,877

Royalties and license fees — — 2,400~ 3,175 3,547

Total Revenues 13,787 30,497 43,318 60,020 64,821

Operating expenses:

Cost of products sold — — 2,775 6,591 €,239

Research and development 17,813 26,628 35,898 38,718 39,307

Sales, general and administrative 4,515 7,624 11,798 12,524 14,592

Total operating expenses 22,328 34,252 50,471 57,833 60,138
Income {loss) from operations (8,541) (3,755) (7,153) 2,187 4,683
Interest income 1,117 2,542 7,155 6,117 3,265
Interest and other expense (731) (934) (924) (660) ©
Income (loss) before income tax expense {8,155) (2,147) (922) 7,644 7,943
Income tax expense — —_ — 1,306 2,857
Net income (loss) $  (8,155) $ (2,147 $ 922) $ 6338 $ 5,286
Basic net income (loss) per share $  (2.13) $  {0.27) $  (0.03) $ 0.21 $ 0.17
Shares used in computing basic net income {loss) per share 3,829 8,087 28,873 29,904 30,647
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ (2.13) $ 0.27) $ (0.03) $ 0.20 $ 0.17
Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share 3,829 8,087 28,873 31,196 31,538
December 31,

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA: 1998 1999 2000 2001 2702
(In thousands)
Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities $ 35,121 $ 119,270 $ 111,040 $ 113,326 $ 118,020
Working capital 15,701 102,093 98,139 101,925 117,904
Total assets 52,903 148,305 146,221 151,070 157,368
Long-term obligations, less current portion 7,591 6,729 3,010 — —
Total stockholders' equity 36,166 119,943 123,651 134,497 145,483




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS

Forward Looking Statement

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and other parts of this Annual Report contain
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These
staternents typically may be identified by the use of forward-looking
words or phrases such as “believe,” "expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,”
“should,” “planned,” “estimated,” and “potential,” among others. All
forward-looking statements included in this document are based on
our current expectations, and we assume no obligation to update any
such forward-looking statements. The Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for such fon/vard-/ook«';vg
statements. In order to comply with the terms of the safe harbor, we
note that a variety of factors could cause actual results and experience
to differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations
expressed in such forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertain-
ties that may affect the operations, performance, development, and
results of our businesses include but are not limited to (1) market
acceptance of our products and services; (2) uncertainties relating to
the pace, quality or number of discoveries of new materials; (3) the
dependence on collaborators to successfully commercialize products;
(4) uncertainties of patent protection and litigation, (5) future growth
strategy, (6) general economic conditions in the United States and in
major European and Asian markets, (7) exposure to risks associated
with export sales and operations; (8) natural disasters, power failures
and other disasters, and (9) other factors that might be described from
time to time in our periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and include those set forth under “Risk Factors” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2002 and elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

w o

All percentage amounts and ratios were calculated using the underly-
ing data in thousands. Operating results for the year ended December
31, 2002, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for future fiscal years. The following discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with our historical financial statements
and the notes to those financial statements that are included on pages
2910 47 in this Annual Report.

Overview

To date, our revenues and cash flows from operations have come from research
collaborations with farge chemical, life science and electronics companies, sale of
instruments, and licensing of intellectual property, materials and software, and
government grants. Approximately 25 leading chemical, life science and electronics
companies are among our base of worldwide partners, customers and licensees. We
expect that our cash flows and revenue for 2003 will be comprised in large part of
payments to be made and revenue to be earned under research and development
collaborations together with product revenue from our Discovery Tools business and
license fees from our Intellectual Property and Materials Licensing business.

We have invested heavily in establishing the technology, instrumentation and infor-
matics necessary to pursue high throughput discovery of materials. These materials
include catalysts to manufacture commodity chemicals and polyolefins, polymers
and phasphors for life science and industrial applications, and specialized materials
for electronics applications.

Despite challenges in the overall business climate, we generated revenues of

" $64.8 million, an increase of 8% over 2001. We ended the year with net income

of $5.3 million, or $0.17 per share on a diluted basis. In addition, we generated
positive cash flow, ending the year with $118.0 million in cash, cash equivalents
and available-for-sale securities.

Our revenue increased from $43.3 million in 2000 to $60.0 million in 2001 to
$64.8 million in 2002. Operating expenses increased from $50.5 million in 2000 to
$57.8 million in 2001 to $60.1 million in 2002. Our total headcount increased from
193 employees at the end of 2000 and to 204 employees at the end of 2001 to
213 employees at the end of 2002.

As of December 31, 2002, our accumulated deficit was approximately $8.4 million.
We may incur additional operating losses as we continue to expand staffing, equip-
ment and facilities. See "Factors Affecting Future Results.”

We expect to continue to make significant investments in research and development
to enhance our technologies, including for the development of new instruments and
software. In addition, our strategy is to expand our operations and to continue to
build our research and development, business development and marketing efforts.




MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Critical Accounting Policies

Symyx' financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (" GAAP™). Note
1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report, describes
the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Preparing financial statements and related
disclosures requires management 1o exercise judgment in making estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and
expenses. These estimates and ass.mptions are affected by management's applica-
tion of accounting policies. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, revenue
recognition, establishing the warranty expense accrual, establishing slow-moving,
obsolete and excess inventary reserves, determining when technical feasibility for
our software products has been achieved and accounting for income taxes. The
following critical accounting policies, among others, are impacted significantly by
judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SOURCE OF REVENUES AND REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICY

Service revenue consists of research and development funding received from colfab- .

orative partners as welf as government granis received for proprietary materials
research. Praduct revenue cansists of payments from customers for Discovery Tools
systems and consumables. Royalties and license fees include fees for licensing of our
intellectual property, proprietary meterials and technology ficense payments and
royalties on laboratory instruments and software sold under license by third parties.

We recognize revenue from research collaboration agreements and government
grants as earned upon performance of the services specified in the agreements.
Payments received that are related 1o future performance are deferred and recog-
nized as revenue as the performance requirements are fulfilled. As of December 31,
2002, we had deferred revenues of approximately $3.0 million, compared with $6.6
million at December 31, 2001. The terms of our collaboration agreements generally
require us to perform minimum levels of research.

We recognize revenue from the sale of Discovery Tools, and all related costs of prod-
ucts sold are expensed, once customer acceptance has been achieved. A warranty
axpense accrual is established at the time of customer acceptance. if there are
extended payment terms, we recogriize product revenue as these payments become
due. We consider all arrangements with payment terms extending beyond 12
months not to be fixed or determineble. Accordingly, the cost of produdts sold as a
percentage of product revenue will fluctuate from one period to the next based on
the timing of when extended payments are due as well as the mix of products sold.

We recognize license fee revenues for licenses to our intellectual property when
earned under the terms of the agreements. Generally, revenue is recognized upon
transfer of the license unless we have continuing obligations for which fair value
cannot be established, in which case the revenue is recognized over the period of
the obligation. If there are extended payment terms, we recognize license fee rev-

enue as these payments become due. We consider all arrangements with payment
terms extending beyond 12 months not to be fixed or determinable. In certain
licensing arrangements there is provision for a variable fee as well s a non-refund-
able minimum amount. In such arrangements, the amount of the non-refundable
minimum guarantee fs recognized upon transfer of the license unless we have con-
tinuing obligations for which fair value cannot be established and the amount of
the variable fee in excess of the guaranteed minimum is recognized as revenue
when it is fixed and determinable.

We recognize royalty revenues based on reported sales by third party licensees of
products containing our materials, software and inteltectual property.

Our sources of potential revenue for the next several years are likely to be:
o payments under existing and passible future collaborative arrangements;

e royalties from our partners based on revenues received from any products
commercialized under those agreements;

e sales of Discovery Tools, other instruments and associated services; and
e licensing of software and intellectual property.

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of
our revenue recognition policies.

INVENTORIES

We carry our inventories at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on
a specific identification basis. We apply judgment in determining the provisions for
slow-moving, excess and obsolete inventories based on historical experience and
anticipated product demand.

WARRANTY EXPENSE ACCRUAL

A warranty expense accrual is established at the time of customer acceptance of a
Discovery Tool system and is included as a cost of product sold. Management is
required to exercise judgment in establishing the appropriate level of warranty
expense accrual for each Discovery Tool system delivered. The actual results with
regard to warranty expenditures could have a material unfavorable impact on us if
system failures or the costs to repair systems are greater than our estimates.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Symyx accounts for research and development casts in accordance with several
accounting pronouncements, including SFAS 2, Accounting for Research and
Development Costs, and SFAS 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. SFAS 86 specifies that costs incurred
internally in creating a computer software product should be charged to expense
when incurred as research and development until technological feasibility has been
established for the product. Once technological feasibility is established, all software
costs should be capitalized until the product is available for general release to cus-
tomers. Judgment is required in determining when the technological feasibility of a




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

product is established. Symyx has determined that technological feasibility for its
software products is reached shortly before the products are released to manufac-
turing. Costs incurred after technological feasibility is established are not material,
and accordingly, the Company expenses all research and development costs when
incurred.

ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME TAXES

Income taxes have been provided using the liability method. Our effective tax rate
for fiscal year 2002 is based on our projection of the estimated future tax conse-
quences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax
returns. Fluctuations in the actual autcome of these future tax consequences could
materially impact our financial position or results of operations. A deferred tax asset
or liability is determined based on the difference between the financial statement
and tax basis of assets and liabilities as measured by the enacted tax rates that will
be in effect when these differences reverse. We provide a valuation allowance
against net deferred tax assets unless, based upon the available evidence, it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. Establishing this valua-
tion allowance involves significant judgment, since we have a limited history of
profitability and the period over which the potential future benefit from the deferred
tax assets may be realized is quite long.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS

We generally grant stock options to our employees for a fixed number of shares
with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the shares on the date of grant.

As allowed under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” ("SFAS 123"), we have elected to fol-
low Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB 25") and related interpretations in accounting for stock awards
to employees. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recognized in our finandial
statements in connection with stock options granted to employees with exercise
prices not less than fair value. Deferred compensation for options granted to employ-
ees is determined as the difference between the deemed fair market value of the
Company's common stock on the date options were granted and the exercise price.

Deferred Compensation

Deferrad compensation for options granted to employees has been determined as
the difference between the deemed fair market value of our common stock on the
date options were granted and the exercise price. Deferred compensation for
options granted 1o consultants has been determined in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 as the fair value of the equity instru-
ments issued. Deferred compensation for options granted to consultants is
periodically remeasured as the underlying options vest,

In connection with the grant of stock options to employees and consultants, prior to
our initial public offering in 1999 we recorded deferred stock compensation of

approximately $5.4 million. This amount was initially recorded as a component of
stockholders equity and is being amortized by charges to operations over the vest-
ing period of the underlying options using the graded vesting method. We recorded
amortization of deferred compensation of approximately $168,000 in 2002,
$411,000 in 2001, and $760,000 in 2000. The amortization expense relates to
options awarded to employees in ail operating expense categories. See Note 4 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 20071

REVENUES

Our total revenue in 2002 was $64.8 million, an increase of 8% from $60.0 millicn
in 2001 This increase was due to the growth in our Discovery Tools business which
generated $27.6 million of revenue in 2002 up from $14.5 million in 2001. Our
revenue from research collaborations decreased from $42.6 million in 2001 to
$33.8 million in 2002 due mainly to the expiration of a number of technology
access fees in 2001 and the expiration and non-renewal of other contracts due
largely to budget constraints being faced by our collaborative partners.

ExxonMobil Chemical Company, Eli Lilly and The Dow Chemical Company,
accounted for 18%, 16%, and 13%, respectively, of total revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2002. ExxonMabil Chemicat Company, The Dow Chemical
Company and Bayer accounted for 12%, 14%, and 13%, respectively, of revenue
for the same period in 2001.

We segregate revenue by: Industry Collaborations, Discovery Tools and Licensing of
Patents and Materials. Industry Collaborations revenue is further segregated into
four categories for purposes of internal management reporting: Chemicals,
Electronic Materials, Life Sciences and Industrial Polymers.

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) _ 2002 2001
Industry Collaborations:
Chemicals 419,446 § 25,900
Electronic Materials 5,833 3,604
Life Science 5,520 7,606
Industrial Polymers 2,900 5,519
33,799 42,629
Discovery Tools 27,561 14,466
Licensing of Patents and Materials 3,461 2,925
Total $64,821 $ 60,020
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INDUSTRY COLLABORATION REVENUE

The decrease in Chemicals revenue n 2002 was largely attributable to the
condlusion of the technology access fees paid under the 1999 Bayer and Dow
collaboration contracts and recognized over the life of those contracts and a reduc-
tion in the level of funding received from Dow and Celanese in 2002. The reduction
in funding received in Chemicals due to the end of the Bayer Collaboration in
December 2001 was offset by the ir crease in funding received under the
ExxonMobil collaboration in 2002. The increase in Electronic Materials revenue in
2002 was mainly attributable to a research collaboration with an undisclosed part-
ner. The decrease in Life Science revenue in 2002 resulted primarily from the
conclusion of the Applied Biosystems collaboration at December 31, 2001 and the
conclusion of the funding received from Merck under the Polymorph Systems devel-
opment collaboration during 2002, partially offset by the addition of a number of
new smaller collaborations. The decraase in Industrial Polymers revenue in 2002
resulted primarily from the expiration of the BASF and ICl callaborations in 2001.

Service revenue from research collaborations exceeded research and development
costs for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 primarily because of con-
tinued research contract profitability.

DISCOVERY TOOLS REVENUE

The increase in Discovery Tools revenue in 2002 was attributable mainly to the ship-

ment of Discovery Toals™ Polymorph Systems to Merck and Eli Lilly and Discovery
Tools™ Solubility Systems to Merck, Lilly and Amgen during 2002. We also shipped
Discovery Tools Systems to North Dakota State University, an unnamed customer
and The Dow Chemical Company in 2002. Discovery Tools revenue included
$25,877,000 of product sales, $1,538,000 of service revenues, and $86,000 of
software license revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 and $14,216,000
of product sales and $250,000 of software license revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2001.

LICENSING OF PATENTS AND MATERIALS

The increase in Licensing revenue in 2002 was due to the licensing of patents to
General Electric, Bayer and an undisclosed licensee, together with a fully paid up
license fee received from Argonaut Technologies, Inc. Licensing revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2001 included advance royalty payments received under the
ABI collaboration that expired on December 31, 2001,

COST OF PRODUCTS SOLD

Cost of products sold was $6.2 million, or 24% of product sales revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $6.6 million, or 46% of product sales
revenue for the year ended Decembe- 31, 2001. The decrease in the cost of prod-
ucts sold was due to the change in the product mix shipped in the respective years.

We have had limited sales of Discovery Tools systems and consumables to date, and
the cost of products sold is expected to fluctuate from period to period and will be
driven by the variability of product mix and sales volumes in each period.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and other
personnel-related expenses, facility costs, supplies, and depreciation of facilities
and laboratory equipment.

The table below indicates the major collaborative partners, defined as those con-
tributing greater than 10% of collaborative research revenue in 2002, for whom
Symyx conducted research and development, together with the primary focus of the
collaborations and the date upon which the current contract ends. Contracts may
only be extended by mutual agreement between Symyx and the collaborative partner.

Current Research

Partner Contract Ends Primary focus of collaborative efforts
ExxonMobil 12/31/2003 Production of olefins
Dow Chemical ~ 6/30/2004 Polyolefins and pharmaceutical intermediates

We do not track fully burdened research and development costs or capital expendi-
tures by project. However, we estimate based an Full Time Equivalent ("FTE") effort,
that approximately 63% of research & development efforts in 2002 were under-
taken for collaborative projects funded by our partners, and approximately 37% of
research effort was on our own internally funded research including development
costs related to our Discovery Tools business. This compares with approximately
78% of research & development efforts being undertaken for collaborative projects
funded by our partners, and approximately 22% of research effort on our own inter-
nafly funded research including development costs related to our Discovery Tools
business during 2001. Due to the nature of our research and our dependence on
our collaborative partners to commercialize the results of the research, we cannot

.predict with any certainty whether any particular collaboration or research effort will

ultimately result in a commercial product and therefore whether we will achieve
future milestones or royalty payments inder our various collaborations.

Research and development expenses in 2002 were $39.3 million, compared with
$38.7 million in 2001, an increase of $589,000 or 2%. The increase in 2002 was
due primarily to increases in salaries and other personnel related costs, to support
our additional collaborative and interal research efforts and development of
Discovery Tools Systems.

Research and development expenses represented 61% of total revenues in 2002
and 65% of total revenues in 2001. The decrease as a percentage of revenue was
due primarily to the increase in product sales revenue from our Discovery Tools busi-
ness. Qur core businesses are research to discover new materials, the sale of
instruments and licensing of related software and licensing of intellectual property
and materials discovered in our collaborative and internal research programs.
Accordingly, we expect to continue to devote substantial resources to research and
development, and we expect that research and development expenses will continue
to increase in absolute dollars.
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SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our sales, generat and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs
for business development, legal, general management, finance and human
resources, as well as payments of commissions to our sales agents and professional
expenses, such as legal and accounting. Sales, general and administrative expenses
in 2002 were $14.6 million, compared with $12.5 million in 2001, an increase of
$2.1 million or 17%. These increases were primarily due to the addition of a num-
ber of business development staff and their associated costs to manage and
support our growth, increased salaries and benefit costs and the payments of com-
missions on the sales of Discovery Tool systems in Japan and on the licensing of
intellectual property.

Sales, general and administrative expenses represented 23% of total revenues in
2002 and 21% of total revenues in 2001, We expect that our sales, general and
administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollar amounts as we continue
to expand our business development and administrative staff, support existing and
expanded laboratory and engineering fadilities, and incur escalating insurance and
other administrative costs.

NET INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE}

Net interest income (expense) represents interest income eamed on our cash and
available-for-sale securities net of interest expense on equipment financing loans.
Interest income was $3.3 million in 2002, compared with $6.1 million in 2001. This
decrease was due to lower interest rates in 2002. Amounts owed under equipment
financing loans used to partially fund our initial acquisition of equipment were fully
repaid at December 31, 2001, resulting in interest expense decreasing to $9,000 in
2002 from $660,000 in 2001.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

We recorded an income tax expense of $2.7 million in 2002 and $1.3 million in
2001, The effective tax rate was 33.5% for fiscal year 2002 and 17.1% for fiscal
year 2001. The increase in our effective tax rate in 2002 is due to the fact that we
had largely utilized our net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2001,
We do not have a sufficient history of profitability to fully benefit all our deferred tax
assets at this time. The largest component of our unbenefited deferred tax assets
arises because our depreciation expense for accounting purposes is substantially
higher than our tax depreciation expense. Until we have a more established history
of profitability, we will not be sufficiently confident of receiving the full benefit of
these future income tax deductions.

As of December 31, 2002, we had net deferred tax assets of approximately $1.4
million. Our net deferred tax assets primarily relate to revenue that has been recog-
nized for income tax purposes but deferred for financial reporting purposes together
with reserves and accruals that have been recognized for financial reporting pur-
poses but not for income tax purposes. At December 31, 2002, we had federal net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $144,000. The net operating loss

carryforwards witl expire in 2020, if not utilized. The valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets includes approximately $352,000 attributable to stock option
deductions, the benefit of which will be credited to stockholders' equity upon reai-
ization. Utilization of the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be
subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations
provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state pro-
visions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards before utilization.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

REVENUES

Our total revenues in 2001 was $60.0 million, an increased of 3% from $43.3
miflion in 2000. This increase was due mainly to the growth in our Discovery Tools
business which generated $14.5 million of revenue in 2001 up from $5.9 million in
2000. The remainder of the increase in revenue was attributable to the addition of
new and expanded research collaborations with companies in the Chemicals industry.

Applied Biosystems, Bayer, Celanese, ExxonMobil and The Dow Chemical Company
accounted for 7%, 13%, 9%, 12% and 14% of total revenue for the 12 months
ended December 31, 2001, and 11%, 20%, 11%, 0% and 22% of revenue for the
same period in 2000,

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2001 2000
Industry Collaborations:
Chemicals $ 25900 3 21,124
Electronic Materials 3,604 3,350
Life Science 7,606 3,560
Industrial Polymers 5519 6,965
42,629 34,999
Discovery Tools 14,466 5,919
Licensing of Patents and Materials 2,925 2,400
Total $ 60,020 $ 43318

INDUSTRY COLLABORATION REVENUE

The increase in Industry Collaboration revenue for the year ended December 31,
2001 compared to 2000 was largely attributable to new research collaborations
initiated with Chemical companies such as ExxonMobil and Life Science companies
such as Merck.

Service revenue frorn research collaborations exceeded research and development
costs for the year ended December 31, 2001 primarily because of increasing research
contract profitability. The excess of research and deveiopment costs over research
revenue during the year ended December 31, 2000 was primarily due to the research
costs associated with internal projects in our Proprietary Materials business and the
development costs associated with the initiation of our Discovery Tools business.
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DISCOVERY TOOLS REVENUE

The increase in Discovery Tools revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001
compared to 2000 was attributable mainly to the shipment of a Discovery Tools™
Polyolefins System to ExxonMobil Chemical Company, a Discavery Tools™
Polymerization System to Sumitomo, a Discovery Tools™ Polymerization System to
GIRSA and a Discovery Tools RapiddGPC™ System to GIRSA. Discovery Tools rev-
enue incduded $14,216,000 of product sales and $250,000 of software license
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

LICENSING OF PATENTS AND MATERIALS

The increase in Licensing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared
to 2000 was due to the licensing fee received from Zeton and Argonaut
Technologies, Inc and licensing of intellectual property to Bayer.

COST OF PRODUCTS SOLD

Cost of products sold was $6.6, or 46% of product sales revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2001, compared to $2.8 million, or 47% of product sales
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The increase in cost of products sold in the year ended December 31, 2001 was
largely attributable to the Discovery Toals Polyolefins systems delivered to
ExxonMobil Chemical Company, the Discovery Tools RapidOGPC™ system delivered
to GIRSA and the Discovery Tools Polymerization systems delivered to both GIRSA
and Sumitomo Chemical Company, Ltd.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and other per-
sonnel-related expenses, facility coszs, supplies, and depreciation of facilities and
laboratory equipment.

Research and development expenses in 2001 were $38.7 million, compared with
$35.9 million in 2000, an increase of $2.8 million or 8%. The increase in 2001 was
due primarily to increases in salaries and other personnel related costs, facilities
costs and chemical and scientific supplies costs to support our additional collabora-
tive and internal research efforts. These increases were partially offset by decreases
in the use of consultants, outside research services and the deferred compensation
charge.

Research and development expenses represented 65% of total revenues in 2001
and 83% of total revenues in 2000. The decrease as a percentage of revenue was
due primarily to revenue increases associated with the addition of significant con-
tracts and a reduction in outside research and consultant costs in 2001. Our core
businesses are research to discover new materials and the sale of instruments and
related software licenses. Accordingly, we expect to continue to devote substantial
resources to research and development, and we expect that research and develop-
ment expenses will continue to increase in absolute dollars.

SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs
for business development, legal, general management, finance and human
resources, as well as professional expenses, such as legal and accounting. Sales,
general and administrative expenses in 2001 were $12.5 million, compared with
$11.8 million in 2000, an increase of $726,000 or 6%. This increase was primarily
due to increased salaries and the addition of a number of business development
staff and their associated costs to manage and support our growth. This increase
was partially offset by a decrease in the deferred compensation charge.

Sales, general and administrative expenses represented 21% of total revenues in
2001 and 27% of total revenues in 2000.

NET INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE)

Net interest income (expense) represents interest income earned on our cash and
available-for-sale securities net of interest expense on equipment financing loans.
Interest income was $ 6.1 million in 2001, compared with $7.2 million in 2000.
This decrease was due to lower interest rates in 2001. Interest expense decreased
to $660,000 in 2001 from $924,000 in 2000. This decrease was due to a reduction
in the outstanding balances of equipment financing loans used to partially fund our
original acquisition of equipment. At December 31, 2001 we had fully repaid
amounts owed under these equipment-financing loans.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

We recorded an income tax provision of $1.3 million in 2001. The provision differs
from the expected tax liability at a statutory rate primarily due to the realization of
previously unbenefited deferred tax assets.

There was no provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2000
due to operating losses.

As of December 31, 2001, we had net deferred tax assets of approximately $2.0
million. Our net deferred tax assets primarily relate to revenue that has been recog-
nized for income tax purposes but deferred for financial reporting purposes. At
December 31, 2001, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approxi-
mately $6.3 million. The net operating loss carryforwards will expire in 2020, if not
utilized. The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets includes approximately $2.4
million attributable to stock option deductions, the benefit of which will be credited
to stockholders' equity upon realization. Utilization of the net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the
ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expi-
ration of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards before utilization.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2002 with respect
to our shares of comman stock that may be issued under our existing equity
compensation plans.

A B C
Number of
Securities Remaining
Available for
Number of Future Issuance
Securities to be Under Equity
Issued Weighted Average Compensation Plans
upon Exercise Exercise Price {Excluding Securities
of Outstanding of Outstanding Reflected in
Plan Category Options Options Column A)
Equity Compensation
Plans Approved
by Stockholders™ 5,376,981% $25.21 1,939,714%
Equity Compensation
Plans Not Approved
by Stockholders® — $ — 1,000,000
Total 5,376,981 $25.21 2,939,714

“Consists of the 1996 Stack Option Plan, 1997 Stock Option Plan and the 1999
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

P Consists solely of the 2001 Non-statutory Stock Option Plan. At December 31,
2002, no options have been granted under this Plan.

®Excludes purchase rights accruing under our 1399 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
which has a stockholder approved reserve of 1,011,739 shares. Under the 1999
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, each eligible employee may purchase up to a max-
imum of 10,000 shares per annum of common stack at semi-annual intervals on
the last U.S. business day of April and October each year at a purchase price per
share equal to 85% of the lower of (i} the closing selling price per share of com-
mon stack on the employee’s entry date into the two-year offering period in which
that semi-annual purchase date occurs or (i) the closing selling price per share on
the semi-annual purchase date. Eligible employees may defer up to 10% of their
salary, but not to exceed $25,000 worth of stock in any calendar year, to purchase
shares under this Plan.

®Consists of shares available for future issuance under our 1996 Stock Option Plan,
1997 Stock Option Plan and the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. As of
December 31, 2002, an aggregate of 1,011,739 shares of common stock were
available for issuance under the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 927,975
shares of common stock were available for issuance under the 1996 Stock Option

Plan and 1997 Stock Option Plan. The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance under
the Plan on the first day of each fiscal year, equal to the lesser of 1% of the out-
standing shares of common stock on the first day of the fiscal year, 350,000 shares,
or a lesser amount as determined by our board of directors. The 1997 Stock Option
Plan provides for an annual increase in the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance equal to the lesser of 1,500,000 shares, 4% of the outstand-
ing shares on the date of the annual increase, or a lesser amount as determined by
our board of directors.

Recent Developments

In January 2003, we incorporated, under the laws of the State of California, a
wholly awned subsidiary, Symyx Discovery Tools, Inc. Symyx Discovery Tools, Inc. has
been established for the purpose of handling all sales, distribution and after sates
support and maintenance functions relating to our existing Discovery Tools business.

In January 2003, we incorporated, under the laws of the State of Delaware, a
wholly owned subsidiary, Symyx Therapeutics, Inc. Symyx Therapeutics, Inc. has been
established for the purpose of exploiting our technology for certain therapeutic
applications.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF lssue No. 00-
21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” which provides guidance
on the timing and method of revenue recognition for sales arrangements that
indude the delivery of more than one product or sesvice, EITF 00-21 is effective
prospectively for arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June
15, 2003. We do not expect that the adoption of EITF 00-21 will have a significant
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement
No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” The stan-
dard addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or
disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” Statement No.
146 states that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity shall
be recognized and measured initially at its fair value in the period in which the lia-
bility is incurred, except far a liability for ane-time termination benefits that are
incurred over a period of time. The standard will apply to us effective for exit or dis-
posal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. We do not believe there will be a
material effect from the adoption of this new standard.
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On December 31, 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation-Transition and Disclasure. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 148 requires accounting policy
note disclosures to provide the method of stock option accounting for each year
presented in the financial statements and, for each year until all years presented in
the finandial statements recognize tne fair value of stock-based compensation. Also,
SFAS No. 148 provides two additioral transition methods that eliminate the ramp-
up effect resulting from applying the expense recognition provisions of SFAS No.
123.The transition provisions and annual statement disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 148 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The
interim statement disclosure requirements are effective for the first interim state-
ment that includes financial information after December 15, 2002. We do not
believe there will be a material financial effect from the adoption of this new stan-
dard unless we were to make & change in our accounting policy and account for
stock option grants as compensation expense.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45"),
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements
No. 5, 57 and 107 and Rescissicn of FASB Interpretation No. 34." FIN 45 clarifies
the requirements of SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingendies,” relating to the
guarantor’s accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types of
guarantees. The disclosure provisions of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements
of periods that end after December 15, 2002. However, the provisions for initial
recognition and measurement are effective on a prospective basis for guarantees
that are issued or modified after December 31, 2002. We have no guarantees of
indebtedness that would be affected by FIN 45. FIN 45 also incarporates account-
ing for indemnities given in connection with licensing of intellectual property and
we are still assessing the potential impact this may have on our future results

from operations.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46"),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN 46 clarifies the application of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, "Consolidated Financial Statements,” to cer-
tain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling
financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN
46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003,
and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that
date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15,
2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest
that it acquired before February 1, 2003. FIN 46 applies to public enterprises as of
the beginning of the applicable interim or annual period. The Company does not
believe there will be a material effec: upon its financial condition or results of oper-
ations from the adoption of the provisions of FIN 46.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
This section discusses the effects of the changes in our balance sheets, cash flows,
and commitments on our liquidity and capital resources,

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOWS

We had pasitive cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2002 and finished the
year with cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities of approximately
$118.0 million, an increase of $4.7 million from December 31, 2001.

In prior years, we had financed our operations primarily through research and devel-
opment funding from collaborative partners, net proceeds from our initial public
offering of $81.4 million and, prior to the initial public offering, private placements
of preferred stock totaling $52.2 million, and to a lesser extent, equipment
financing loans. During 2001, we completely paid off the remaining $6.7 million of
debt that was incurred to fund capital expenditures in the early stages of operation.
As of December 31, 2002, Symyx had no long-term liabilities.

Qur operating activities provided $9.7 million, $16.7 mittion and $1.7 million of
cash in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The sources of cash for the three years
were primarily the receipt of research and development funding from collaborative
partners and revenue from product sales and inteflectual property licensing, partially
offset by operating expenses.

Net cash used in investing activities was $1.6 million, $8.6 million and $19.2 mil-

~lion in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The fluctuations from period to period

are due primarily to the timing of purchases, sales and maturity securities and pur-
chases of property and equipment, We expect to continue to make significant
investments in the purchase of property and equipment to support our expanding
operations.

Financing activities provided cash of $2.0 million in 2002 and used cash of $3.2
million and $806,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. These amounts are primarily
the proceeds from the exercise of stock options and sale of stock under the
Employee Share Purchase Plan in each of the three years, offset by partial repay-
ments of equipment and leasehold improvement loan financing in each of 2001
and 2000. The fluctuations from year to year are due primarily to the fact that dur-
ing the fourth quarter of 2001 we repaid all remaining amounts outstanding under
loan financings.

Current liabilities decreased by approximately $4.7 million at December 31, 2002 as
compared to December 31, 2001. The decrease was due primarily to a decrease in
deferred revenue and income taxes payable partially offset by an increase in the
warranty reserve at December 31, 2002. Deferred revenue decreased at December
31, 2002 as compared to December 31, 2001 due to the timing of the receipt of
advance deposits for Discovery Tools systems. Deferred revenue at December 31,
2001 included a significant deposit toward a Discovery Tools Polymorph system that
was delivered to the customer in the final quarter of 2002. Income taxes payable
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decreased at December 31, 2002 compared to December 31, 2001 as the benefit
relating to stock option deductions was reclassified from income tax payable to
equity. Our warranty expense accrual at December 31, 2002 is higher than
December 31, 2001, reflecting an increase in our installed base of Discovery Tools
Systems subject to warranty.

BACKLOG

As of December 31, 2002, our customers have contractually committed to future
funding of approximately $20.9 million for the purchase by customers of Discovery
Tools systems, licenses to our intellectual property and for research and develop-
ment with existing collaborative partners, excluding milestone payments which are
contingent upon the success of the research.

COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, our principal commitments were $15.2 million
and $17.2 million, respectively. Principal commitments consisted of our obligations
under operating leases. We will satisfy these obligations as they become due over
the next eight years.

Future commitments under the operating leases for our facilities are as follows
(in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

2003 1,991
2004 2,063
2005 2,146
2006 2,232
2007 2,321
Thereafter 4,430

$ 15,183

in March 2003, we exercised our option to purchase for $3.9 million the land and
building at 3100 Central Expressway, Santa Clara, CA which houses our head office.

As of December 31, 2002, we have purchase commitments for inventory of approxi-
mately $388,000.

We believe that our current cash, available-for-sale securities balances and the cash
flows generated by operations will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash needs
for working capital, capital expenditures, investment requirements, stock repur-
chases and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations for
at least the coming year. Nonetheless, we may raise additional funds through public
or private financing, collaborative relationships or other arrangements. We cannot

assure you that additional funding, if sought, will be available on terms favorable to
us. Further, any additional equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, and debt
financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. Collaborative arrangements
may require us to relinquish our rights to some of our technologies or products. Our
failure to raise capital when needed may harm our business and operating results.

A portion of our cash may be used to acquire or invest in complementary busi-
nesses or products or to abtain the right to use complementary technologies. From
time to time, in the ordinary course of business, we may evaluate potential acquisi-
tions of such businesses, products or technologies.

CONTINGENCIES

We are a party to a legal proceeding that has arisen in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. While the outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty,
management does not expect this matter to have a material adverse effect on our
consclidated financial position, results from operations or cash flows.

We carry insurance with coverages and coverage limits that we believe to be
adequate. Although there can be no assurance that such insurance is sufficient
to protect us against alf contingencies, management believes that our insurance
protection is reasonable in view of the nature and scope of our operatians,

OFF BALANCE SHEET FINANCING AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Symyx has not entered into any off-balance sheet financing arrangements and has
not established any special purpose entities as of December 31, 2002. Symyx has
not guaranteed any debt or commitments of other entities or entered into any
options on non-financial assets. The only transactions between Symyx and related
parties during 2002 were:

* loans originally provided to certain employees and executive officers for
the exercise of stock options prior to our initial public offering in 1999; and

e Mario M. Rosati, one of our directors, is also a member of Wilson Sonsini
Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, which has served as our outside
corporate counsel since our formation and has received compensation at
normal commercial rates for these services.

Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock. We currently

expect to retain future earnings, if any, to support the development of our business
and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable futura.
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Quantitative arnd Qualitative

Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk is principally confined to our cash, cash equivalents
and investments which have maturities of less than two years. We maintain a non-
trading investnent portfolio of investment grade, liquid debt securities that limits
the amount of credit exposure to ary one issue, issuer or type of instrument. At
December 31, 2002 our investment portfolio comprised approximately $24.1 million
in money market funds and $93.9 raillion in U.S. corporate debt and U.S. treasury
securities. The securities in our investment portfolio are not leveraged, are classified
as available for sale and are therefore subject to interest rate risk. We currently do
not hedge interest rate exposure. If market interest rates were to increase by 100
basis paints, or 1%, from December 31, 2002 levels, the fair value of our portfolio
would decline by approximately $494,000. The modeling technique used measures
the change in fair values arising from an immediate hypothetical shift in market
interest rates and assumes ending fair values include principal plus accrued interest.

Interest Rate Sensitivity:
Principal Amount by Expected Maturity (in thousands)

Average Interest Rate

2003 2004 Total Fair Value

12/31/02

Available-for-sale securities $87,932 $ 6,808 394,740 § 93,885
Average interest rate 255%  239% 2.54%




REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Symyx Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Symyx Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finandial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Symyx Technologies, Inc. at December 31,
2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Gamet ¥ i

Palo Alto, California
January 23, 2003




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, [NC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Decamber 31,

(In thousands, except share and per share information) 2002 2001
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 25,629 $ 15,621
Available-for-sale securities 92,391 97,705
Accounts receivable 6,697 454
Inventories 2,240 2,192
interest receivable and other current assets 2,832 2,526
Total current assets 128,788 118,498
Property and equipment, net 24,186 28,532
Deferred tax and other assets 3,383 4,040
Total assets $ 157,368 $ 151,070
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current fiabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities $ 4 $ 3934
Accrued compensation and employee benefits 1, 1,118
Income taxes payable 253 3,068
Deferred rent 1,003 842
Deferred revenue 3,014 6,637
Warranty expense accrual 1,899 974
Total current liabilities 11,885 16,573
Commitments
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized,
issuable in series; no shares issued and outstanding. — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valug, 100,000,000 shares authorized;
30,920,499 and 30,613,967 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively 31 31
Additional paid-in capital 154,213 148,366
Stockholder notes receivable (404) (410)
Deferred stock compensation {92) (335)
Accumulated other compreherisive income 120 516
Accumulated deficit (8,383) (13,671)
Total stockholders’ equity 145,483 134,497
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 157,368 $ 151,070

See accompanying notes.




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

{In thousands, except share and per share information) 2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
Service revenues $ 35,397 $ 42,629 $ 34,999
Product sales 25,877 14,216 5919
Royalties and license fees 3,547 3,175 2,400
Total revenues 64,821% 60,020 43,318
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 6,239 6,591 2,775
Research and development 39,307 38,718 35,898
Sales, general and administrative 14,592 12,524 11,798
Total operating expenses 50,138 57,833 50,471
Income (loss) from operations 4,683 2,187 {7,153)
interest income 3,269 6,117 7,155
Interest and other expense (9) (660) (924)
Income {loss) before income tax expense 7,943 7,644 (922)
Income tax expense 2,657 1,306 —
Net income {loss) $ 5286 $ 6,338 $ (922)
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.17 $ 0.21 $ 0.03)
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share 30,647 29,904 28,873
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 047 $ 0.20 $ (0.03)
Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share 31,638 31,196 28,873

See accompanying notes.




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

{in thousands)

Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Shares

Amount Shares

Amount

Balance at January 1, 2000
Repurchase of common stock
Issuance of common stock on exerise of options
Issuance of common stock under employee share purchase plan
Issuance of common stock in exchange for acquired technology
Repayment of notes receivable
Amortization of deferred stock compensation
Deferred stock compensation related to terminated employees
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2000
Unrealized gain (loss) on availeble-for-sale securities

Comprehensive loss

— 29,639
— (43)
— 436
— 9N
—_ 16

$ 30

Balance at December 31, 2000
Repurchase of common stock
Issuance of common stock on exercise of options
Issuance of common stock under employee share purchase plan
Repayment of notes receivable
Amortization of deferred stock compensation
Deferred stock compensation related to terminated employees
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2001
Unrealized gain {loss) on foreign currency translation
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities,
net of applicable income taxes of $336

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2001
Repurchase of common stock
Issuance of common stock on exercise of options
Issuance of common stock under e mployee share purchase plan
Repayment of notes receivable
Amortization of deferred stock compensation
Deferred stock compensation related to terminated employees
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income {loss) for the year ended December 31, 2001
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency translation
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities,
net of applicable income taxes of $247

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2002

— 30,920

See accompanying notes.




Accumulated

Additional Stockholder Deferred Other Total
Paid-in Notes Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'

Capital Receivable Compensation Incame (Loss) Deficit Equity
§ 142,048 $ (731) $  (2,128) $ (189) § (19,087 § 119,943
(50) 42 — — — (8)
1,356 — — — — 1,356
1,125 — — — — 1,125
815 — — — — 815
— 68 — — — 68
— — 760 — — 760
(546) — 546 — — —
_ — _ — (922) (922)
- - — 514 — 514
{408)
144,748 621) {822 325 (20,009) 123,651
@ — — — — @)
2,083 — — — — 2,094
1,267 — — — — 1,267
— 21 — — — 21
— — 411 — — an
(76) — 76 — — —
336 — —_ — — 336
— — —_ — 6,338 6,338
— — — (12) — (12)
— — — 203 — 203
6.529
148,366 (410) (335) 516 (13.671) 134,497
M - — — - Mm
905 — — — — 905
1,055 — — — — 1,055
— 6 — — — 6
— — 168 — — 168
{75 — 75 — — —
3,963 - — — — 3,963
— — — — 5,286 5,286
- - — ) — (m
— — — (395) — (395)
4,890
$ 154,213 $ (404) $ (92) $ 120 $ (8,385) $ 145,483




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

{In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $ 5,286 $ 6338 $ {922)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 11,067 9,807 6,477
Deferred compensation amortization 168 411 760
Deferred tax benefit 338 (2,046) —
Tax benefit from employee stock options 3,963 336 —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (6,243) 539 (31
{nventories (48) 571 (2,301)
Interest receivable and other current assets (306) 377 129
Other long-term assets (325) 4 27
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 577 267 (1,284)
Accrued compensation and employee benefits 87 (278) 685
Income taxes payable {2,568) 2,732 —
Deferred rent 161 238 126
Deferred revenue (3,623) (3,097) (2,455)
Warranty expense accrual 925 534 440
| Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 9,679 16,733 1,651
| INVESTING ACTIVITIES
\ Purchases of property and equiprent, net (4,482) (10,980) (8,824)
‘ Purchases of available-for-sale securities (76,148) (89,901) (63,165)
| Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 78,995 77,839 53,825
‘ Proceeds from sales of avallable-for-sale securities — 14,727 —
| Acquisition of technology — {250) {1,000}
|
| Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities {1,635) (8,565) {19,164}
‘ FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of repurchases 1,965 3,570 2,498
Principal payments on equipment and facility loans — (6,729) (3,304)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,985 (3,159) {8006)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents {1 (12) —
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,008 4,997 (18,319)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 15,621 10,624 28,943
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 25,629 § 15621 $ 10,624
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid $ — $ 611 $ 925
Income taxes paid $ 791 $ 366 $ —

See accompanying notes.




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Symyx Technologies, Inc. {the “Company” or “Symyx") develops and applies high-
speed combinatorial technologies to the discovery of materials for chemical, life
science and electronics applications. We provide research services to our partners
through our Industry Collaborations business, seek to license discovered materials
through our Propriety Materials programs, offer access to select instruments and
software through our Discovery Tools® business, and license certain of our patented
apparatus and research methodologies through our Intellectual Property Licensing
business.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
its wholly owned subsidiary, Symyx Technologies AG, incorporated in Switzerland. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consol-
idation.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to exercise judgment
in making estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finan-
cial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The actual results with regard to warranty expenditures could have a material unfavor-
able impact on the Company if system failures or the cost to repair a system is greater
than what the Company has used in estimating the warranty expense accrual.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior pericd amounts to conform to the
current period presentations. Revenue reported in previous quarters as product and
license revenue is now reported separately as revenue from product sales and rev-
enue from royalties and license fees.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, with maturities of three
months or less on the date of purchase, to be cash equivalents, Cash equivalents
are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Management determines the appropriate classification of debt securities at the time
of purchase and reevaluates such determination as of each balance sheet date.
Through December 31, 2002, the Company has classified its entire investment port-
folio as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value, with
the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in other comprehensive income.
Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on
available-for-sale securities are included in interest income. The estimated fair value
amounts have been determined by the Company using available market information.

The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in interest income,
The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest
and dividends are included in interest income.

The Company invests its excess cash primarily in deposits with banks and short-term
and medium-term marketable securities. These investments primarily include corpo-
rate notes, money market funds and U.S. treasury notes. By policy, the Company
restricts its investments ta long-term bank obligations rated "A" or higher and
short-term obligations rated “P1" or higher by Moody's or "A1" or higher by
Standard & Poor’s ("S&P™), and corporate obligations, including intermediate term
notes rated "A” or higher and commercial paper rated "P1” or higher by Moody's,
or "A1” or higher by S&P. By policy, the Company restricts its investments to instru-
ments with maturities of less than twenty-four months.

The following is a summary of the fair value of cash, cash equivalents and available-
for-sale securities {in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
Money market funds $ 24,135 § 15,621
U.S. corporate debt securities 88,835 75,773
U.S. Treasury securities 5,050 21,932

Total $118,020 $113,326

Above amounts are included in the following:

December 31,

2002001
Cash and cash equivalents $ 25,629 $ 15,621
Available-for-sale securities 92,391 97,705
Total $118,020 $113,326

Unrealized gains and losses are not material, and have, therefore, not been shown
separately; however, they have been included as a separate component in the state-
ment of stockholders’ equity. Gross realized gains and losses on sales of
available-for-sale securities were immaterial.

The fair value of the Company's investment in debt securities, by contractual matu-
rity, is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
Due in less than 1 year $87,080 § 7427
Duein 1to 2 years 6,805 23,434

Total $93,885 3 97,705




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Praperty and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed on the
straight-line method using a life of three to five years for financial reporting pur-
poses and by accelerated methods for income tax purposes. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated
useful life of the assets.

Property and equipment consists of the following {in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001

Machinery and equipment $17,919  $16,855
Computers and software 3,1%4 3,510
Leasehald impravements 23,403 21,182
Construction in progress 168 2,392
Furniture and fixtures 983 1,005
45,872 44,944

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 21,478) (16,412

Property and equipment, net $24,198 §$ 28,532

At December 31, 2002, no property and equipment was pledged as collateral
against borrowings. Amortization of leasehold improvements is included in depreci-
ation expense. Depreciation expense was $8,818,000, $8,825,000 and $6,399,000
in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Company routinely evaluates the carrying value of its long-fived assets. The
Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when
events and circumstances indicate that assets may be impaired and the undiscounted
cash flows estimated to be generated by the assets are less than the carying
amount of those assets. To date, no impairment charges have been recognized.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Service Revenues

The Company recognizes service revenues from research collaboration agreements
and government grants as earned based upon the performance requirements of the
agreements, Payments received prior to performarce are deferred and recognized as
revenue when earned over future performance periods. Collaboration agreements
generally specify minimum levels of research effort required to be performed by the
Company. Payments received under research collaboration agreements are not
refundable if the research effort is nat successful. Direct costs associated with these
contracts and grants are reported as research and development expense.

Non-refundable up-front payments received in connection with research and devel-
opment collaboration agreements, including technology access fees, are deferred and
recognized on a straight-line basis over the relevant periods specified in the agree-
ment, generally the research term. Revenue from milestone payments, which are
substantially at risk untif the milestones are completed, is recognized upon comple-
tion of these milestone events. Milestone payments to date have been immaterial.

Product Sales

Product sales revenues include sales of Discovery Tools hardware and associated
software licenses and maintenance. Revenue from the sale of Discovery Tools sys-
tems is recognized when eamed. Revenue is eamned when persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists, delivery of the product has occurred, no significant obliga-
tions with regard to implementation remain, the fee is fixed or determinable, and
collectibility is probable. This is generally upon shipment, transfer of title to and
acceptance by the customer of the hardware and associated software and licenses
10 intellectual property, unless there are extended payment terms. The Company
considers all arrangements with payment terms extending beyond 12 months not
to be fixed or determinable. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is
recognized as payments become due from the customer. In multiple element
arrangements, the Company uses the residual methed to allocate revenue to
delivered elements once it has established fair value for all undelivered elements.
Payments received in advance under these arrangements are recorded as deferred
revenue until earned.

The Company’s product related software licenses may provide for technical support,
bug fixes and rights to unspecified upgrades on a when-and-if-available basis for
periods defined within the contract. Revenue related to this post contract customer
support is deferred and recognized over the term of the contracted support.

An accrual is established for warranty expenses at the time the associated revenue is
recognized. Shipping and insurance costs associated with the sale of discovery tools
systems are not material and are included in sales, general and administrative costs.

Royaliy and License Fees

Amounts received from third parties for licenses to the Company's intellectual prop-
erty are recognized when eamed under the terms of the agreements. Generally
revenue is recognized upon transfer of the license unless the Company has continu-
ing obligations for which fair value cannct be established, in which case the
revenue is recognized over the period of the obligation. If there are extended pay-
ment terms, license fee revenue is recognized as these payments become due. The
Company considers all arrangements with payment terms extending beyond 12
months not to be fixed or determinable. f there is a provision in the licensing agree-
ment for a variable fee in addition to a non-refundable minimum amount, the
amount of the non-refundable minimum guarantee is recognized upon transfer of
the license unless the Company has continuing obligations for which fair value can-
not be established and the amount of the variable fee in excess of the guaranteed
minimum is recognized as revenue when it is fixed and determinable.

Royatty revenues are recorded based on reported sales by third party licensees of
products containing the Company's software and intellectual property.

Amaunts received from third parties for options to license certain technology or
enter collaborative arrangements upon specified terms are deferred until either the
option is exercised or the option right expires.

]



SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

CONCENTRATION OF REVENUE

During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 the following cus-
tomers contributed more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the year (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

Acquired technology consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2002 2001
$ 2065 § 2065
(1,155) (730)

Acquired technology, at cost
Less accumulated amortization

2002 2001 2000
Applied Biosystems $ — § 4400 § 4,600
Bayer AG 300 7,535 8,607
Celanese Ltd. 4,437 5,204 4,629
Eli Lilly and Company 10,300 — —
ExxonMobil Chemical Company 11,884 7,309 118

The Dow Chemical Company 8,600 8,425 9,520
Undisclosed Partner 6,705 3,433 —

The revenue from the above customers has been included in the following
reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Industry Collaborations $24,923 § 28,487 § 22,39
Discovery Tools 16,957 5819 3,070
Intellectual Property Licensing 346 2,000 2,000

INVENTORIES

Work in process is the only component of inventories for ail periods presented and
comprises customized Discovery Tool systems in the process of being built.
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market, determined on a specific iden-
tification basis.

ACQUISITION OF TECHNOLOGY

In February 2000, the Company exercised an option to license certain patent rights
and know-how relating to synthesis and screening of diverse materials in connec-
tion with combinatorial materials science research. Symyx paid $750,000 and

also issued 16,262 shares of common stock to acquire these rights. The License
Agreement also provides for Symyx to pay up to an additional $1,500,000 subject
1o the achievement of certain milestones. Subsequently milestone payments of
$250,000 were made in each of July 2000 and December 2001, The exercise of this
option and the subsequent milestone payments have been accounted for as an
acquisition of technology and the associated costs are being amortized over the
expected remaining useful life of the technology. Based on acquired technology cost
at December 31, 2002 and assuming no subsequent impairment of the underlying
assets and no additional milestone payments, the annual amortization expense, is
expected to be approximately $425,000 in 2003, $425,000 in 2004, and $60,000
in 2005.

Acquired technology, net $§ 910 § 1,335

Amortization expense recorded $ 425 § 395

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Symyx policy is to expense as incurred all costs of research and development,
including direct and allocated expenses, related both to costs incurred on its own
behalf and on behalf of its customers. The types of costs classified as research and
development expense include salaries of technical staff, consultant costs, chemical
and scientific supplies costs, facilities rental and utilities costs related to laboratories
and offices occupied by technical staff, depreciation on equipment and facilities
used by technical staff and outside services such as machining and third-party
research and development costs.

SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed, requires the capital-
ization of certain software development costs subsequent to the establishment of
technological feasibility. As the Company's business model has evolved, it has com-
menced bundling with the Discovery Tools it sells, licenses to software that was
originally developed for internal research & development purposes. Due to the
unique nature of the Discovery Tool systems, and the required product development
process, technological feasibility is established only upon the completion of & work-
ing model. Costs incurred by the Company between the completion of the working
medel and the point at which the product is ready for general release have been
insignificant. Accordingly, the Company has charged all stich costs to research and
development expense in the pericd incurred.

WARRANTY EXPENSE ACCRUAL

The Company offers a warranty on each Discovery Tool System shipped. The specific
terms and conditions of these warranties vary depending upon the product sold and
country in which the Company does business, however they typically include cover-
age for parts and labor and software bug fixes, for a specified period {typically 1
year). The Company estimates the costs that may be incurred under its basic limited
warranty and records a liability in the amount of such costs at the time product rev-
enue is recognized. Factors that affect the Company’s warranty liability include the
number of installed units, historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims, and
cost per claim. The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded war-
ranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary.



SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Company's product I'ability during the year ended December 31,
2002 are as follows {in thousands):

Balance as of January 1, 2002 $ 974
New warranties issued during the period 1,055
Costs incurred during the period on specific Systems (130)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties during

the period, including expirations —
Balance as of December 31, 2002 $ 1,899

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial statements of the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Symyx
Technologies AG, are measured using the local currency as the functional currency.
Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are translated at the rates of exchange at the
balance sheet date. The resultant translation adjustments are recorded as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity as other comprehensive income and have not
been significant to date. Income and expense items are translated at average
monthly rates of exchange.

INCOME TAXES
Income taxes have been provided using the liability method in accordance with
FASB Statement 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” In accordance with FASB
Statement 109, a deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the differ-
ence between the financial statemen* and tax basis of assets and fiabilities as
measured by the enacted tax sates which will be in effect when these differences
reverse. The Company provides a valLation allowance against net deferred tax
assets unless, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets will be realized.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company generally grants stock aptions to its employees for a fixed number of
shares with an exercise price equal tc the fair value of the shares on the date of
grant. As allowed under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” {"SFAS 123"), the Company has
elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” {“APB 25"} and related interpretations in accounting for stock
awards to employees. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recognized in the
Company's financial statements in connection with stock options granted to
employees with exercise prices not less than fair value. Deferred compensation for
options granted to employees is determined as the difference between the deemed
fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date options were
granted and the exercise price. For purposes of this pro-forma disclosure, the esti-
mated fair value of the options is assumed to be amortized to expense over the
options’ vesting periods.

Compensation expense for options granted to non-employees has been determined
in accordance with SFAS 123 as the fair value of the consideration received or the
fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measured.
Compensation expense for options granted to non-employees is periodically re-
measured as the underlying options vest (in thousands, except per share data).

Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss):

As reported

Add: Stack-based employee
compensation expense
included in reported net
income (loss), net of related
tax effects

Deduct: Total stock-hased
employee compensation
expense determined under fair
value method for all awards,
net of related tax effects

$ 5286 9§ 6338 § (922)

760

168 411

(22,269)  (25,108) (19,257}
${16,815) $(18,359) $(19,419)

Pro forma

Basic net income (loss) per share:

As reported ] $ 617 $ 021 § (0.03)

Pro forma $ (0.-575) $ (061 § (067)
Diluted net income (loss) per share:

As reported $ €17 § 020 § (0.03)

Pro forma $ (0.55) $ (061) $ (0.67)




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED}

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per share has been computed using the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, less shares sub-
ject to repurchase. Diluted net income (loss) per share has been calculated based on
the shares used in the calculation of basic net income per share plus the dilutive
effect of stock options and shares subject to repurchase by the Company.

The following table presents the calcutation of basic, diluted net income (loss) per
share (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss) $ 528 §$ 6338 $ (922)

Weighted-average shares of common

stock outstanding 30,798 30,413 29,834
Less: weighted-average shares subject

to repurchase (151) {509) (1,011)
Weighted-average shares used

in computing basic net income

{loss) per share 30,647 29,904 28,873
Dilutive effect of employee stock

options, using the treasury

stock method 840 783 —
Shares subject to a right of repurchase 151 509 —
Weighted-average shares used

in computing diluted net income

(loss) per share 31,638 31,196 28,873

Basic net income (loss) per share $ 017 § 021§ (0.03)

Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 017 § 020 § (0.03)

The Company has excluded all outstanding stock options, and shares subject to
repurchase from the calculation of diluted loss per comman share in 2000 because
all such securities are anti-dilutive for that periods. The total number of shares
excluded from the calculations of diluted net loss per share, prior to application of
the treasury stock method for options, was 5,083,787 for the year ended December
31, 2000. See Note 4 for further information on these securities.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 130,
"Reporting Comprehensive Income.” The only components of other comprehensive
income (loss) are unrealized gains and losses on avaitable-for-sale securities and a
foreign currency transtation adjustment. Comprehensive income (loss) has been dis-
closed in the statement of stockhclders” equity for all periods presented.

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in thousands):

Foreign Unrealized

Currency Gains On
Translation  Available- For-
Adjustments  Sale Securities  Total

Balance at January 1, 2000 $ — 3 (1890 § (189
Unrealized gains on available-

for-sale securities — 514 514
Balance at December 31, 2000 — 325 325
Foreign currency translation adjustment (12) — (12)
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale

securities, net of $336 taxes — 203 203
Balance at December 31, 2001 (12) 528 516
Foreign currency translation adjustment m — n
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale

securities, net of $247 taxes — (395) {395)
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ (13 $ 133 § 120

EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF Issue No. 00-
21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables which provides guidance on
the timing and method of revenue recognition for sales arrangements that include
the delivery of more than one product or service. EITF 00-21 is effective prospec-
tively for arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003.
The Company does not expect that the adoption of EITF 00-21 will have a signifi-
cant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement
No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” The stan-
dard addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or
disposal activities and nullifies Emerging lssues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” Statement No.
146 states that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity shall
be recognized and measured initially at its fair value in the period in which the lia-
bility is incurred, except for a liability for one-time termination benefits that are
incurred over a pericd of time. The standard will apply to the Company effective for
exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company does not
believe there will be a material effect from the adoption of this new standard.
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On December 31, 2002, FASB issuec SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation-Transition and Disclosure. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 148 requires accounting policy
note disclosures to provide the method of stack option accounting for each year
presented in the financial statements and, for each year until all years presented in
the financial statements recognize the fair value of stock-based compensation. Also,
SFAS No. 148 provides two additional transition methods that eliminate the ramp-
up effect resulting from applying the expense recognition provisions of SFAS Ne.
123. The transition provisions and annual statement disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 148 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The
interim statement disclosure requirements are effective for the first interim state-
ment that includes financial information after December 15, 2002. The Company
does not believe there will be a material financial effect from the adoption of this
new standard unless it were to make a change in its accounting policy and account
for stock option grants as compensation expense.

in November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 457),
“Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements
No. 5, 57 and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34.” FIN 45 clarifies
the requirements of SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” relating to the
guarantor's accounting for, and disclosure of the issuance of certain types of guar-
antees. The disclosure provisions of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of
periods that end after December 15, 2002. However, the provisions for initial recog-
nition and measurement are effective on a prospective basis for guarantees that are
issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company has no guarantees of
indebtedness that would be affected by FIN 45. FIN 45 also incorporates account-
ing for indemnities given in connection with licensing of intellectual property and
the Company is still assessing the porential impact this may have on its future
results from operations. The disclosure provision related to product warranties is
included efsewhere in this footnote.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46"),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN 46 clarifies the application of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to cer-
tain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling
financial interest or do nat have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN
46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003,
and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that
date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15,
2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest
that it acquired before February 1, 2003. FIN 46 applies to public enterprises as of
the beginning of the applicable interim or annual period. The Company does not
believe there will be a material effect upon its financial condition or results from
operations from the adoption of the provisions of FIN 46,

2. Research and Development Arrangements

The Company has entered into a number of multi-year research and development
collaborations to perfarm research for partners in exclusive fields over multiple
years. The major collaborative amangements all have similar contractual terms and
are non-cancelable other than for material breach or certain other conditions. Under
the collaborative arrangements, the Company is responsible for performing research
at levels defined in the agreement, indluding synthesis, screening and informatics.
The partner, in turn, is entitled to develop and commercialize materials discovered in
or under collaboration within the defined field. The Company typically receives
research and development funding at specified amounts per full time equivalent
employee working on the project and is entitled to receive royalties on the sale of
any products commercialized under the agreement or payments on the achievement
of specified research milestones. The agreements also contain procedures by which
the Company and the partner will determine royalty rates for the sale or license of
products under the agreements.

The table below indicates some of the significant callaborative partners for whom
the Company conducted research and development in 2002, together with the pri-
mary focus of the collaborations. In addition to these partners we have a number of
other undisclosed partners, none of which individually constituted more than 5% of
total revenue in 2002:

Partner Primary focus of collaborative efforts

Celanese Ltd. Catalysts for commodity chemicals

The Dow Chemical Company Polyolefins and pharmaceutical intermediates

Identify optimal crystalline salt and polymorphic
form of drug candidates

Eli Lilly and Company

Eveready Battery materials

ExxonMobil Chemical Company  Production of olefins

Merck & Co., Inc. Workflow for rapid discovery, identification and

characterization of novel crystalline salt and
polymorphic forms of drug candidates

Rhodia S.A.

Unilever

Specialty chemicals

Polymers for product formulations used in home
and personal care products

Undisclosed Partner Electrocatalysts
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Under the typical collaborative arrangement, the Company owns all inventions con-
ceived and reduced to practice solely by the Company in connection with activities
under the agreements and all know-how and intellectual property rights related
thereto; and the Company and the collaborative partner jointly own all inventions
made, conceived, reduced to practice, or otherwise developed jointly by employees
or consultants of the Company and thase of the collaborative partner in connection
with activities under the agreement and all know-how and intellectual property
rights related thereto. The Company's collaborative partner typically receives an
exclusive license in the defined field of the collaborative agreement.

The agreements are typically cancelable only in the event of breach by either party.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company had committed funding from existing col-
laborative partners, excluding mifestone payments which are contingent upon the
success of the research, of approximately $14.9 million. Revenue from collaborative
partners who individually comprised more than 10% of revenue are included within
Note 1 - Concentration of Revenue.

During 1999, the Company was awarded grants from the U.S. Office of Naval
Research Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) and the U.S.
Department of Energy. During 2000, an extension to the 1999 grant was awarded
to the Company. Under these grants, the Company was reimbursed for research
costs over various periods as specified in the awards. During the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, revenue recognized under these grants was
approximately $0, $0 and $1,596,000, respectively.

The Company does not track or allocate actual costs by collaboration or project, as
the requirement from its collaborative partners is to staff the various projects on a
full-time-equivalent {"FTE") employee basis. Accordingly, the Company tracks the
assignment of these FTE's to each project over time, Based on the analysis of these
FTE's, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, approximately 63% of the
Company's research effort, determined based on employee hours charged ta a proj-
ect, was on research for collaborative projects funded by aur partners. The remaining
37% of research effort was on Symyx funded research and developrent, The focus
of the Symyx funded programs in 2002 was largely on life sciences, such as materi-
als for genomics and pharmaceutical development, and on industrial polymer
applications as well as the next generation of Discovery Tools. In 2001 and 2000
approximately 78% and 75%, respectively, of the Company’s research sffort was for
collaborative projects funded by our partners with approximately 22% and 25%,
respectively, being Symyx funded research.

3. Facility Lease and Other Commitments

The Company entered into an 11 year operating lease agreement for a facility com-
mencing February 1, 1997, with rent payments commencing July 1, 1998. In May
1999, the Company entered into an eight-and-a-half-year operating lease agree-
ment for an additional facility commencing October 1999. In February 2000, the
Company entered into an agreement 1o lease a third facility. The lease commenced
on October 1, 2000 and has an initial term of ten years with an option to extend
the initial term for an additional five years.

Rent expense, which is being recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms, was approximately $2,248,000 million, $2,230,000 and $1,160,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Future commit-
ments under the operating leases for the facilities are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

2003 1,991
2004 2,063
2005 2,146
2006 2,232
2007 2,321
Thereafter 4,430

$ 15,183

In December 1998, the Company entered into foan and security arrangements for
up 10 $10,000,000 with Transamerica Business Credit and LMSI Venture Finance.
Amounts drawn under the loans bore interest rates of approximately 8.5% to
10.0%, had a term of 48 months, and were secured by equipment financed by pro-
ceeds under the agreements. Under these agreements, $5,624,000 was drawn in
1898 and an additional $2,715,000 was drawn in 1999. No additional amounts
were available for draw down under these loan and security arrangements as they
expired during 2003, As of December 31, 2001 all principal and interest owing
under these loan agreements had been repaid in full. Interest expense for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $9,000, $660,000, and $924,000,
respectively.
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4. Stockholders’ Equity

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

In September 1999, the board of cirectors approved an amendment to the
Company's articles of incorporation to authorize 10,000,000 shares of undesig-
nated preferred stock, for which the board of directors is authorized to fix the
designation, powers, preferences and rights and an increase in the authorized
number of shares of common stock to 100,000,000 shares. )

COMMON STOCK

Included in the common shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are
48,755 and 283,727 shares of common stock subject to repurchase rights, which
generally expire ratably over four or five years from date of issuance. Certain of
these shares were issted pursuant to full-recourse notes receivable, which bear
interest at rates between 4.6% and 6.0% per annum and are due and payable on
the earlier of 120 days after termination of the participant’s employment with the
Company, or on various dates begirning in February 2003 and ending in August
2004 — see Note 7 Related Party Transactions. In 1998, the Company sold 525,000
shares of common stock to its Chief Executive Officer concurrent with the commence-
ment of his employment. The shares are subject to the Company’s right of repurchase
at the original purchase price, in the event of termination, which lapses over a four
year period and unvested shares have been included above in the reported common
stock subject to repurchase rights at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has reserved 7,304,956 shares of common
stock for future issuance in relation to the Company's Stock Option Plans.

STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

fn October 1999, the Company’s shareholders approved the adoption of the 1999
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”). A total of 300,000 shares of
the Company's commaon stock were initially reserved for issuance under the
Purchase Plan. The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase common
stock at a discount, but only through payroll deductions, during concurrent 24-
month offering periods. Each offering period will be divided into four consecutive
six-month purchase periods. The price at which stock is purchased under the
Purchase Plan is equal to 85% of tha fair market value of the common stock on the
first or last day of the offering period, whichever is fower. In addition, the Purchase
Plan provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance
under the Purchase Plan on the first day of each fiscal year, equal to the lesser of
1% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the first day of the fiscal year,
350,000 shares, or a lesser amount as determined by the board of directors. At
December 31, 2002, shares of commion stock available for future issue under the
Stock Purchase Plan are 1,011,739.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company's 1996 Stock Option Plan was adopted in March 1996 and provided
for the issuance of options for up to 1,153,444 shares of common stock to employ-
ees, directors and consultants.

During 1997, the Company’s board of directors approved the adoption of the 1997
Stock Option Plan with terms and conditions the same as those of the 1996 Stack
Option Plan (collectively, the "Qualified Plans”}. The 1997 Stock Option Plan pro-
vides for the issuance of options for up to 8,962,199 shares of common stack to
employee and consultants. The Qualified Plan provides for an annual increase in the
number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance equal to the lesser of
1,500,000 shares, 4% of the outstanding shares on the date of the annual
increase, or a lesser amount as determined by the board of directors.

In October 2001, the Company’s board of directors approved the adoption of the
2001 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (the “NSO Plan”). The NSO Plan provides for
the issuance of options for up to 1,000,000 shares of common stack to non-execu-
tive employees and consuitants.

Stock options granted under the Qualified Plans may be either incentive stock
options or nonstatutary stock options, whereas stock options granted under the
NSO Plan are nonstatutory stock options. Options are generally granted with exer-
cise prices equal to the fair value of the comman stock on the grant date, as
determined by the board of directors. The options expire no more than 10 years
after the date of grant or earlier if employment or relationship as a director or con-
sultant is terminated. The board of directors shall determine the times during the
term when the options may be exercised and the number of shares for which an
option may be granted. Options may be granted with different vesting terms from
time to time but will provide for annual vesting of at least 20% of the total number
of shares subject to the option, The Company allows early exercise of options, sub-
ject to repurchase rights untit such options are fully vested.
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Ne options have been granted under the 2001 NSO Plan as of December 31, 2002, A summary of activity under the 1996 and 1997 Stock Option Plans is as follows:

Outstanding Stock Options

Number of Shares Exercise Weighted- Average

Price Exercise Price
Balance at January 1, 2000 2,838,498 $ 001 ~ $33.00 $ 5.80
Options granted 2,054,105 $2413 - $62.63 $47.83
Options exercised (418,669) $ 019 - $31.88 $ 3.24
Options canceled (592,228) $ 019 - $§57.00 $17.23
Balance at December 31, 2000 3,881,706 $ 001 - $6263 $26.57
Options granted 1,705,387 $1213 - §31.25 $22.64
Options exercised (386,910) $ 019 -~ $§2550 $ 5.16
Options canceled (400,864) $§ 019 - $62.63 $30.28
Balance at December 31, 2001 4,799,319 $ 019 -~ §$58.25 $26.59
Options granted 1,143,925 $ 842 -~ $21.74 $15.32
Options exercised (216,460) $ 019 -~ $16.70 $ 4.18
Options canceled (349,803) $ 0.39 -~ $57.00 §$24.81
Balance at December 31, 2002 5,376,981 $ 019 -~ §58.25 $25.21

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, vested and outstanding options for 3,067,521, 2,056,819 and 2,200,389 shares were exercisable at weighted-average exercise
prices of $20.35, $13.33 and $9.95, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
was $8.33, $13.62 and $28.77, respectively. At December 31, 2002, options for shares of common stock available for future grants under the 1997 Stock Option Plan are
927,975 and under the 2001 NSO Plan are 1,000,000.

An analysis of options outstanding at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Options Vested
Options Outstanding Welighted-Average Remaining Options Weighted- Vested at Weighted-Average
at December 31, 2002 Contractual Life (in years) Average Exercise Price December 31, 2002 Exercise Price
$ 019 -9% 039 145,911 4.5 $ 0.33 145,911 $ 033
$ 096 -3 096 277,132 5.9 $ 0.96 277132 $ 096
$ 193 -% 386 189,964 6.3 ] $ 3.09 189,964 $ 3.09
$ 642 - % 842 195,114 8.4 § 765 75,114 $ 6.43
$10.10 - §14.75 927,965 7.4 $12.08 701,557 $12.13
$15.30 - $22.68 1,004,769 9.1 $16.99 474,117 $ 16.83
$23.50 - $34.63 1,415,266 8.0 $ 26.57 763,200 $ 27.06
$36.50 - $51.50 143,999 7.5 $ 40.95 81,240 $ 41.80
$55.38 — $58.25 1,076,861 7.2 $ 57.01 359,286 $ 57.06
5,376,981 1.7 $ 25.21 3,067,521 $2035

Pro forma net loss information is required by SFAS 123, computed as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options granted under the fair value method of
that Statement. The fair value for options granted prior to the Company's initial public offering in November 1999 were estimated at the date of grant using the minimum
value method. Options granted following the Company's November 1999 initial public offering have been valued using the Black-Scholes method with an expected stock
volatility of 0.74 in 2002, 0.84 in 2001 and 0.84 in 2000. Cther valuation assumptions are as follows:
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2002 2001 2000
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.7% 4.6% 6.4%
Expected life (years) 3.5 3.5 35

The fair value of issuances under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan is estimated on
the issuance date using the Black-Scholes model assuming no expected dividends
and the following weighted average assumptions for issuance made in 2002, 2001
and 2000.

2082 2001 2000
Expected stock price volatility 0.55 0.84 0.84
Risk-free interest rate 2.12% 470%  6.40%
Expected life (years) 0.71 0.62 0.50

Had the Company valued its stock options and stock purchase rights according to
the fair value provisions of SFAS 123, pro forma net income (loss) and pro forma
net income (loss) per share would have been as follows (in thousands);

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss):
As reported $ 528 § 6338 § (922
Pro forma for SFAS 123 ${16,815) $(18,359) $(19,419)

Basic net income (loss) per share;

As reported $~ 0.17 $ 021 § (0.03)

Pro forma for SFAS 123 $ (0.55 3§ (061) § (067
Diluted net income (loss) per share:

As reported B 7$ 0.17 $ 020 § (0.03)

Pro forma for SFAS 123 $ {055 § (61 $ (067)

During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, in connection with the grant
of certain share options to employees, the Company recorded deferred stock com-
pensation of $4,070,000 and $605,300, respectively, representing the difference
between the exercise price and the deemed fair value of the Company's common
stock on the date such stock options were granted. Deferred compensation is
included as & reduction of stockhaldars’ equity and is being amortized to expense
on a graded vesting method. During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000, the Company recorded amortization of deferred stock compensation
expense of approximately $168,000, $411,000 and $760,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2002, the Company had a total of approximately $92,000 remaining
to be amortized over the corresponding vesting period of each respective option.

The amortization of deferred stock compensation, combined with the expense asso-
ciated with stock options granted to non-employees, has been included in the
following items in the accompanying statements of operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Research & development $ 125 § 308 § 588
Sales, general & administrative

Total

43 103 172
168 $ 411 $ 760

5. Income Taxes

The provision for {benefit from) income taxes consisted of the following

(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Current;

Federal $ 1,952 § 2437 % —

State 119 905 —

Foreign 28 10 —
Total 2,099 3,352 —
Deferred:

Federal 558 (2,046) —
Provision for income taxes $ 2,657 § 1306 § —

Tax benefits resulting from the exercise of nonqualified stock options and the
disqualifying dispositions of shares issued under the Company's stock-based
compensation plans reduced taxes payable by approximately $3,963,000 in 2002
and $336,000 in 2001. Such benefits were credited to additional paid-in capital.

The reconciliation of federal statutory income tax rate to the Company's effective
income tax rate is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Expected provision (benefit) at

federal statutory rate $ 2780 § 2676 § (323)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 119 588 —
Research & development credits (50) (207) —
Valuation allowance {utilized)/provided (338) (1,990) 323
Other individually immaterial items 146 239 —
Provision for income taxes $ 2657 § 1306 § @ —
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the
Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 53 § 2213

Research & development tax credits — 480

Deferred revenue 897 2,046

Capitalized research & development 719 367

Depreciation 3,101 2,988

Warranty reserve 773 399

Other individually immaterial items 3,582 1,098
Total deferred tax assets 7,125 9,591
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (5,637) (7,545)
Total deferred tax assets 1,488 2,046
Deferred tax liabilities:

investment holdings (89) (336)

Net deferred tax assets $ 1,398 ¢ 1,710

SFAS No. 109 provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of
such assets is mare likely than not. Based upon the weight of available evidence,
which includes the Company historical operating performance, the Company has
provided a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets that it determined may
not be realizable as of December 31, 2002,

The net valuation allowance decreased by approximately $1,908,000 and
$1,998,000, and increased by approximately $2,200,000 during the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets includes approximately $352,000
attributable to stock option deductions, the benefit of which will be credited to
stockholders’ equity upon realization.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had a federal net operating loss carryfor-
ward of approximately $144,000. The net operating loss carryforward will expire in
2020, if not utilized.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to an
annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limita-
tion may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization.

6. Segment Disclosure

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments
of an Enterprise and Related Information (SFAS 131), requires disclosures of certain
information regarding operating segments, products and services, geographic areas
of operation and major customers, The method for determining what information to
report under SFAS 131 is based upon the “management approach,” or the way that
management organizes the operating segments within a company, for which sepa-
rate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM) in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. Symyx' CODM is the Chief Executive Officer. The CODM
evaluates the performance of the Company based on consolidated profit or loss
from operations before income taxes. For the puspose of making operating deci-
sions, the CODM primarily considers financial information presented on a
consolidated basis accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues.
Revenue is defined as revenues from external customers.

Symyx allocates research personnel time to each collaboration arrangement on a
full-time-equivalent basis but does not allocate actual research and development
expenses to each collaboration or business segment. The Company does not assess
segment performance below the revenue level or allocate sales, general or adminis-
trative expenses or assets to the individual segments and, therefore, financial
performance including depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures is not
reported on a segment basis.

Symyx provides research services to its partners through its Industry Collaborations
business, offers access to select proprietary instruments and associated software
and intellectual property, through its Discovery Tools business and licenses discov-
ered materials and methodology patents through its Licensing business.

The disaggregated financial information reviewed by the CODM is as follows. The
Company segregates Industry Collaboration revenue into four categories for pur-
poses of internal management reporting: Chemicals, Industrial Polymers, Electronic
Materials, and Life Sciences. The CODM reviews this revenue information on an
industry basis as well as by Business Unit.

Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

(In thousands)
industry Collaborations:

Chemicals $19,446 §$ 25900 §$ 21,124
Electronic Materials 5,933 3,604 3,350
Life Science 5,520 7,606 3,560

Industrial Polymers 2,900 5,519 6.965

33,799 42,629 34,999
27,561 14,466 5919
3,461 2,925 2,400

Total $64,821 §60020 § 43318

Discovery Tools
Licensing of Patents and Materials
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Discovery Tools revenue included 525,877,000 of product sales, $1,598,000 of
service revenues, and $86,000 of software license revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2002 and $14,216,000 of product sales and $250,000 of software
ficense revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

All significant long-lived assets were geographically located in the United States for
all periods presented. All revenue is generated in the United States for all periods
presented, but is presented in the table below based on the physical location of
Symyx” customers.

GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA

Years Ended December 31,

{In thousands) 2062 2001 2000
United States $56,872 $ 34926 §$ 17,510
Japan 6,525 5618 2
France 809 1,000 —
Germany 316 13,222 17,277
Mexico 117 3,221 2,712
Netherlands 112 — —
United Kingdom 79 2,033 4717
Switzerland — — 1,100
Total $64,82%1 § 60,020 § 43,318

7. Related Perty Transactions

Prior to its initial public offering, tha Company implemented a program under which
directors, executive officers and certain other employees were permitted to purchase
restricted stock or to exercise stock options pursuant to full recourse promissory
notes. The notes bear interest between 4.6% and 6.0% per annum and are due
and payable on the earlier of 120 days after termination of employment or on vari-
ous dates beginning in February 2003 and ending in August 2004. In 1999 and
1998, loans were made in the amount of $361,000 and $398,000, respectively,
pursuant to this program. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, $5,000, $211,000 and
$68,000 of these promissory notes were repaid, respectively and 30, $0, and
$42,000 respectively, were cancelled due to repurchase of the underlying stock.

8. Financial Instruments

The Company has not entered into any derivative contracts at December 31, 2002.
The following is a summary of the Company’s risk management strategies and the
effect of these strategies on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentra-
tions of credit risk consist principally of cash and investments. The Company does
not carry a significant trade accounts receivable balance. The Company maintains
cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments in various corporate
debt securities, money market funds and U.S. Treasury notes. The Company's policy is
designed to limit exposure to any one institution or company. The relative credit
standing of the note holders is monitored to ensure compliance with the Company's
investment strategy. The Company does not require collateral on these financial
instruments.

INVESTMENTS

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating
its fair value disclosures for financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount reperted in the balance sheet
for cash and cash equivalents approximates its fair value.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable: The carrying amounts reported in
the balance sheet for accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their
fair value.

Available-for-sale securities: The fair values for available-for-sale equity securi-
ties are based on quoted market prices. The fair values for available-for-sale
securities together with information in relation to their maturity dates is included in
Note 1 to these financial statements.

9. Subsequent Events

in January 2003, the Company incorporated, under the laws of the State of California,
a wholly owned subsidiary, Symyx Discovery Tools, Inc. Symyx Discovery Toals, Inc.

has been established for the purpose of handling all sales, distribution and after sales
support and maintenance functions relating to the Company's existing Discovery Tools
business.

In January 2003, the Company incorporated, under the laws of the State of
Delaware, a wholly owned subsidiary, Symyx Therapeutics, Inc. Symyx Therapeutics,
inc. has been established for the purpose of exploiting the Company's technology
for certain therapeutic applications.




SYMYX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
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10. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands, except per share amounts).

Three Months Ended

2002 MAR. 31, JUN. 30, SEPT. 30, DEC. 31,
Total revenues $ 14512 $ 13,985 $ 14,441 $ 21,883
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 645 794 1,209 3,591
Research and development 10,231 9,630 9,617 9,829
Sales, general and administrative 3,461 3,232 3,422 4,477
Total operating expenses 14,337 13,656 14,248 17,897
Interest income (expense), net 1,019 871 705 665
Income before income tax expense 1,194 1,200 898 4,651
Income tax expense 585 516 54 1,502
Net income $ 609 $ 684 $ 844 $ 3,149
Basic net income per share $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.10
Diluted net income per share $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.10
Three Months Ended
2001 MAR. 31, JUN. 30, SEPT. 30, DEC. 31,
Total revenues $ 14,013 $ 15370 $ 15856 $ 14,781
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 2,286 1,829 1,609 867
Research and development 10,305 9,998 9,752 8,663
Sales, general and administrative 2,874 3,003 3,306 3,341
Total operating expenses 15,465 14,830 14,667 12,871
Interest income (expense), net 1,667 1,426 1,468 896
Income before income tax expense 215 1,966 2,657 2,806
Income tax expense 35 259 457 555
Net income $ 180 $ 1,707 $ 2,200 $ 2,251
Basic net income per share $ 0.01 $ 0.06 $ 0.07 $ 0.07
Diluted net income per share $ 0.01 $ 0.05 $ 0.07 $ 0.07
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